
Community Library NetworJ& 
WE EMPOWER DISCOVERY 

Board Packet 
10.19.23 Board Meeting 



 

 

1 

 

Community Library Network 
SPECIAL Board of Trustees Meeting 

FRIDAY, September 8, 2023 
HARRISON LIBRARY 

 
9:00AM – Noon  

 
We Empower Discovery 

Agenda   

 
Call to Order Meeting was called to order at 9:00 am 
 
Roll Call Trustees: Katie Blank, Tom Hanley, Rachelle Ottosen, Tim Plass, Vanessa Robinson 
  Staff: Alexa Eccles, Lindsey Miller-Escarfuller 
 
Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Public Comment (30 minutes) 
  Speakers must state name and community and speak for no more than 3 minutes. 

Persons addressing the Board are expected to observe a level of civility and decorum 
appropriate for a public meeting. No personal attacks or disruptions from audience members 
will be tolerated. 

 
• Lori Dombrowski, Harrison. She spoke about the library being an essential part of the community’s 

activities, offering essential services like Wi-Fi and being a place to gather. 
• Rich Dombrowski, Harrison. He spoke about being a 20-year resident and after losing population 

for 100 years is poised now to grow. 
• Wanda Irish, Harrison. Resident and Mayor of Harrison spoke about how the library is important to 

the city and to her personally. 
• Mary Byrne, Harrison. She has been an educator for 36 years and watched every Board meeting.  

Selection responsibilities rest with parents. The Board is micromanaging.  Cuts hurt kids. 
• Glendora DeSantis, Harrison. She has lived in the community for 6 years, and the library is 

important and provides services such as interlibrary loan, children’s programs, and DVDs. 
• Courtney Brown, Harrison.  She just moved to the area, uses Wi-Fi, homeschool mom and was 

previously a high school teacher. Choices should be ours. 
• Joseph Prophet, Harrison.  Bigger communities have resources. Restricting access is up to parents.  

The Board’s job is policy setting. Let the staff do the necessary work. 
• Ty Byrne, Harrison.  He has been an area resident for 20 years.  The library is a hub and a 

gathering place, social interaction, safe place.  Staff are kind, helpful, and are proud of the work 

they do. 
• Kathy Rees, Harrison. She has a business degree and is a business owner.  Homeschools her 8-

year-old granddaughter that reads at a 6th grade level.  Recommends growing the library, doing 
things that bring more life in, and raising money for the library. 

• Will Butler, Harrison. He lives within the city and was introduced to libraries by his mother.  He 
feels comfortable in libraries, they are welcoming, and he can be himself.  Children are smiling and 

it is a meeting place. 
• David Greenwood, Harrison.  His mother dragged him to the library, he now has a son.  6 years 

ago, he was in awe, besides books to become involved in activities. Begs Board to keep programs, 
there is no replacement. 

 



 

 

2 

 

Point of Order - Trustee Blank.  From last meeting. Blank is concerned it is going to happen again at this 
meeting.  Blank stated she was very concerned about this point of order.  Blank asked for it to be noted that 
she was not allowed to bring up a point of order.  Chair Ottosen made a note.   
 
Board Procedures/Robert’s Rules Resolution: Action Item (15 minutes) 
 

• Chair Ottosen stated the purpose of Robert’s Rules resolution is to stop talking over and attempt to 

thwart the will of the Board majority.  Civility is required to be a better board.  The back of the 3rd 
page, Resolution.  Use Article III, Section 6.  Initiate 1) obtaining the floor and 2) address the chair 
avoid using names. 

 
Point of Order - Trustee Blank.  Is this discussion and then we will look at resolution?  Is this open for 

Discussion. Blank has several questions. Ottossen stated, yes, it is open for discussion.  Ottosen stated she 

looked up in 2022, there were 4 procedures, 3 took 10 minutes, one was allotted 5 minutes.  Hoping 15 

minutes would be more than sufficient.  Previously done by consensus. 

• Trustee Robinson stated the Board is already using Robert’s Rules for small boards.  What is the 

meaning of resolution?  Trustee Plass thought it was a good idea to recognize a time to speak and not 
compete.  Trustee Blank stated she was concerned that everyone should be given the chance to speak 
once. Instead of twice. It is the responsibility of the Chair. Trustee Hanley was given a handout on his 
first day that he has been following. Hanley is not interested in being too stiff and rigid but wants 
better discussion.  Trustee Blank expressed the Board needs to slow down, asking members to speak, 
sometimes the Director is not included. Trustee Hanley stated the Director is a non-voting member.  
Trustee Robinson stated in spirit the Director is part of the Board.  Trustee Blank stated silencing staff 
has never been done. 

• By consensus, the Board will revisit at the end of February 2024. 

 
Discussion of CLNs Insurance Policy: Action Item (20 minutes) 
  

• Trustee Robinson asked if CLN was being singled out by ICRMP.  Trustee Blank asked what the red 
flags are or concerns that have been pointed out.  She recalled that the Board refused to speak to 

ICRMP Counsel relating to an employee issue, the Board has refused to cooperate with ICRMP. 
• Director Eccles reviewed what all members agree to in the Board signed Joint Powers Agreement (JPA). 

JPA states members will cooperate with ICRMP legal counsel, notify people of claims, keep informed of 
purpose activities like policies and job descriptions. 

• By consensus, the Director will start the ICRMP appeal process and find out if extending the library’s 

current policy by one month is possible.   
 

Tour of Harrison Library (10 minutes)  
 

• The Board toured the facility and the meeting reconvened at 10:41am. 
 
Discussion of Materials Selection Policy (50 minutes)  
 

• Trustee Blank looked at the first part, which was worked on last time that changed the section on 
responsibility.  Progression is good and she appreciates the people that worked on that. 

•  
Chair Ottosen, reading from Idaho Commission for Libraries (ICfL) Trustee Manual; under 
responsibilities, “The Library Director implements policies set by the Board.” She would like to delete 

the second sentence and replace it with a quote from page 21.  Trustee Plass feels it is a better 



 

 

3 

 

sentence.  Trustee Blank does not want to approve a policy without seeing it. She would like to see the 
draft with strike through lines and the added sentence. Director Eccles said quote is from the 
orientation – bulleted list in the ICfL Trustee Manual.  She referred Board to entire section on Board’s 
role on collection which includes the Freedom to Read and Intellectual Freedom in the ICfL Trustee 
Manual.  Chair Ottosen stated we are sending it to the attorney to review it, the draft will be in the 
Board packet.  Chair Ottosen asked if the Board has consensus. Majority of Board members agreed.   

 
Point of Order - Trustee Blank.  No consensus.  Plass, Hanley and Ottosen said yes. 

• Trustee Robinson cautioned that the government moves slowly for a reason. 
 

• Trustee Plass campaigned on wanting to make quick changes, remove intellectual freedom and any 
reference to ALA. Policy needs a lot more work.  Plass wants to get something done quickly, like to add 
second bullet “excluding recommendations from ALA and affiliates.” Does not want to rely on book 

recommendation lists, wants added “excluding recommendation lists from ALA and affiliates.”  Does not 
want staff to be using ALA recommendations. 

 

• Director Eccles explained part of the reason the process is slow and thorough is that after a policy is 
adopted, changes are implemented by staff.  Clear directions for staff are necessary.  The Caldecott 
and Newberry awards are ALA awards, does that mean staff cannot purchase award winning books?  

Taking the time now and going through the process and answering questions is preferred over making 
a change and then coming back and making another change.  It lacks consistency for staff.   

 
Point of Order – Blank.  Every person is a trustee and speaks once.  Not what is meant as debate.  Everyone 
takes the same amount of time to speak.  Chair directing the meeting not using it as a time to make more 
comments than everyone else.  I believe some items may violate Idaho Code, the Idaho Constitution, and the 
Federal Constitution.     
 

• Trustee Plass was not certain why there would be confusion, staff should not use ALA lists. If the same 

book is on another list, staff could still do it.  No more books bought that ALA is recommending.  
 

• Trustee Blank said the issue is bringing us into legal issues.  To say we will not be purchasing – would 
that be censorship?  That sounds like censorship, a huge red flag issue.  Intellectual Freedom, choice is 

an individual matter “for adults” was added.  Blank cited Idaho Statute, Title 32, Chapter 1010 Idaho 
Parental Rights Act and Title 32, Chapter 1013 Interference with Fundamental Parental Rights 
Restricted.  If we are planning to limit choices to minors, as a public library we do not act “in loco 
parentis”.  If we are limiting choice to minors, we may be violating the Idaho Code.  Children have First 
Amendment rights.  Taking out the rest of the paragraph, we are saying no to the First Amendment.  
Intellectual Freedom is the First Amendment, which would be a huge red flag.  Freedom to Read and 
Library Bill of Rights, continue to support First Amendment rights. These rights are Fundamental to 
ethics for public libraries.  Staying within the First Amendment and taking out statements that support 
it, what will it be replaced with?    

 

• Director Eccles read from the Idaho Commission for Libraries definition of censorship.  “Censorship is 
the suppression of ideas and information that certain persons – individuals, groups, or government 
officials – find objectionable or dangerous.  It is no more complicated than someone saying, “Don’t let 
anyone read this book, or buy that magazine, or view that film, because I object to it!” 

 

• Trustee Hanley stated he wants books purchased to comply with the updated policy.   
 



 

 

4 

 

• Trustee Blank stated what the Director read fits censorship.  Cautioning this is dangerous territory, the 
First Amendment. We must be very careful.   

 

• Chair Ottosen stated we do not have consensus. 

 
Point of Order - Blank.  Blank brought up Intellectual Freedom and wants to discuss it next. Robinson stated 
this policy was changed last year.  She requested an explanation for why it is important to change it now. 
Chair Ottosen stated her reasons were stated at a previous meeting.  Plass offered his thinking that 
Intellectual Freedom is a bogus freedom and not part of the First Amendment.  Children have different First 
Amendment rights than adults.  He wants the American Library Association removed.  Hanley stated removing 
this language is not changing the law and does not take those freedoms away.  Blank reiterated what was 
expressed that you can take this out but what it shows is that this library is not committed to Intellectual 
Freedom.  We will be limiting the choice for children.  Idaho Statute, Title 33, Chapter 2702 Public Library 

Districts (6) Public library services “shall meet standards established by the board of library commissioners.”  
The Freedom to Read and the Library Bill of Rights is the standard set by the board of library commissioners.  
Our library should meet this requirement and if we do not we are opening ourselves up to legally violating the 
Idaho Code and Federal Law. 
 
Discussion to disaffiliate with ALA and its subsidiaries (50 minutes) 
 

• Plass asked if ALA was Marxist? Plass stated the members elected a president that is Marxist. ALA 

promotes the book 1619, which is clearly unamerican.  Intellectual Freedom is not part of the First 
Amendment. Robinson stated this is a tough one and she does not fully understand the breadth of ALA.  
Asked if it would be beneficial if we wrote a letter of concern to ALA.  She is reluctant to throw the 
whole system out as there must be good parts. Robinson asked are we saying staff no longer need 
specialized training and ALA approved curriculum.   

 

• Chair Ottosen responded she did not believe anyone was saying we cannot hire librarians that have 

gone through ALA training.  There are other nationwide library associations staff can receive training 
from.  She wanted the board to focus on the Cambell County, Wyoming statement. The last sentence, 
CLN policies will be adjusted. Before that add: “or promote ALA agendas and campaigns such as the 
so-called banned books week.”  The reason for the addition is that Ottosen stated she had looked at 
banned book week.  All the books are sexually explicit materials that frequently seem aimed at minors 
and she does not think that is appropriate. 

•  

Blank also has concerns with ALA and would prefer they were more centralists. Blank supports writing 
a letter to ALA.  Our job is to provide access to information in a neutral fashion.  Freedom to Read was 
adopted in 1953 and the Bill of Rights was adopted in 1939.  These documents have been updated to 
reflect how we receive and access information and ideas today.   

 

• Director Eccles stated 3 different versions have been presented. Each version would have different 
meanings.  The Board should be specific, for example, CLN will not pay for ALA membership or 
conference attendance.   

 

• No consensus on asking the Director to draft a letter to ALA.  Robinson and Blank would like a letter.  

Hanley and Plass do not want a letter. 
 
Point of Order – Trustee Blank. The board has not put forward a motion. Is the Board sending “the discussion” 
to counsel? 
 



 

 

5 

 

• Ottosen asked if the short version from Cambell County with the addition of “or promote ALA agendas 
and campaigns such as the so-called banned books week” was agreed upon.  Plass, Hanley and 
Ottosen said yes. Robinson and Blank said no. 

 

• Ottosen asked if there was a consensus to send this statement to the attorney?  The attorney will 

address any legal concerns and discuss them at the next meeting. Plass, Hanley and Ottosen said yes. 
Robinson and Blank said no. 

 
Set Special and Regular Meeting Date(s): Action Item(s) (5 minutes) 
 

• Hanley would like to see a Special Meeting to discuss URD rebate and amending the budget. 

 
Hanley moved to extend the meeting by 20 minutes. 
M, C - Hanley 
 

• By consensus, the Board will call a special meeting to discuss URD rebate and amend the budget on 
Friday, 15th.  Trustees can attend in person or via video conferencing. 

 

Adjournment: Action Item  
Blank moved to adjourn at 11:54am 
M, C- Blank 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Alexa Eccles 
 
 
 

 
Calendar of events: 
21 Sep 2023  Regular Meeting    9:00 – 12:30  Pinehurst 

19 Oct 2023  Regular Meeting    2:00 – 5:30  Post Falls 

16 Nov 2023  Regular Meeting     2:00 – 5:30  Post Falls 

21 Dec 2023  Regular Meeting    2:00 – 5:30  Post Falls 

 

 
Please let us know if you need auxiliary aids or services to enjoy our libraries.  This includes providing a sign language interpreter, 

assistive listening devices, or print materials in a digital format. We can also modify programs, services, or activities, within reasonable 

limits.  Please request these services through Randy Zepeda, ADA Coordinator, preferably 15 days in advance, but no later than 72 

hours before the event.   

Phone: 208-773-1506 ext. 329 

Email: ADAcoordinator@communitylibrary.net 

The Community Library Network does not discriminate on the basis of disability in its programs, services, activities or employment 

practices. The Library Network has a policy on ADA compliance and the complete policy is available for review upon request. In 

addition, a grievance procedure is available to resolve complaints. If you need this notice in large print or Braille, let us know.  

mailto:ADAcoordinator@communitylibrary.net


 

 

1 

 

Community Library Network 
SPECIAL Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes 

FRIDAY, September 15, 2023 
POST FALLS LIBRARY / Microsoft Teams  

 
10:00AM – 11:00AM  

 
We Empower Discovery 

Agenda   
 
Call to Order Meeting was called to order at 10:00 am 
 
Roll Call Trustees:  Katie Blank, Tom Hanley, Rachelle Ottosen, Tim Plass (Via Teams at 10:03 am), 

Vanessa Robinson 
  Staff:  Alexa Eccles, Lindsey Miller-Escarfuller, Janelle Sells 
   
Ottosen moved to amend the agenda to add update/discussion for closing Harrison and Sunday closure hours 
and extending the meeting until 11:20 am to be the next item on the agenda.  Robinson and Blank are unable 
to extend their time. 
M, C – Ottosen, Blank and Robinson opposed. 
 
Update/discussion on Sunday hours and Harrison closure.   

• Ottosen moved to suspend the rules to limit comments to two minutes per trustee per turn.  Eccles 
recommended not to have any further public discussion regarding Sunday hours until legal counsel has 
responded.      

M, C – Ottosen, Blank and Robinson opposed. 
• Ottosen, Plass and Hanley do not want to pursue further discussions about closing Harrison or closing 

Sundays.  Eccles noted that the tabled motion will need to be brought back to another agenda for 
action. 

 
Discussion to Accept or Reject the Urban Renewal District funds in the amount of $42,256.90 to be received 
on September 21, 2023.  Action Item (15 minutes) 

• Hanley noted the funds were already collected from taxpayers and he suggests accepting the funds and 
reducing the tax levy for FY’24.  Robinson is in favor of accepting the funds but not reducing the tax levy 
for FY’24.  Plass stated carryforward is overfunded.  He is in favor of reducing the FY’24 tax levy.  Blank is 
in favor of accepting the URD rebate.  She does not agree that carryforward is overfunded.  Ottosen is in 
agreement with Hanley.  Eccles noted the increased revised estimates for legal and insurance 
expenditures.  She does not believe the District has excess funds.  Robinson moved to accept the URD 
Funds of $42,256.90.  Hanley moved to amend Robinson’s motion by reducing the tax levy for 
Maintenance and Operations for FY’24 by $42,256.90.  Eccles noted the funds will be received in FY’23 and 
will be in carryforward for FY’24. 

Vote on Hanley’s amendment to reduce the M & O tax levy for FY’24 

M, Failed – Hanley; Blank requested a Roll Call vote. 

Blank – Nay 
Hanley – Aye 
Plass – Nay 
Robinson – Nay 
 

Vote on Robinson’s motion to accept the URD funds in the amount of $42,256.90. 

M, C - Robinson 



 

 

2 

 

 
Discussion to Amend the FY2024 Community Library Network Budget for Maintenance and Operations not to 
include Bond. Options include: 1) Reduce Expenses or 2) Expend Carryforward. Action Item (45 minutes) 

• Plass asked if the FY’23 budget will need to be re-opened to accept the URD funds.  Eccles noted it is 
not unusual to have to reopen the budget.  Hanley wants to reduce the FY’24 Maintenance and 
Operations tax levy by the amount of the URD funds.  Blank noted that the reduction tells staff and the 
community that the Board is not supporting them.  Plass wants the carryforward reduced to two 
months of expenditures.  Eccles is concerned about possible misunderstanding of carryforward.  She is 
also concerned about the risk of increased legal fees and insurance costs.  She noted the increase in 
employee turnover.  Blank is also concerned about the perception of carryforward.  Plass moved to 
modify the FY’24 budget to show additional carryforward funds in the amount of $42,256.90 and 
reduce the Maintenance and Operations tax levy amount by $42,256.90.  Robinson had to leave the 
meeting but stated her vote on the motion would be opposed. 

M, C – Plass; Blank requested a Roll Call vote. 
Blank – Nay 
Hanley – Aye 
Plass – Aye 
Ottosen – Aye  
 

Hanley moved to extend the meeting by 10 minutes. 
M, C – Hanley, Blank opposed 
  
Set Special and Regular Meeting Date(s): Action Item(s) (5 minutes) 

• Eccles discussed the engagement letter for the auditor.  Blank noted the importance of adding this 
agenda item to the next meeting.  A consensus has been reached to add the audit engagement to the 
September 21, 2023, agenda. 

 
Adjournment: Action Item  
Blanked moved to adjourn at 11:28 am 
M, C – Blank 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Alexa Eccles, Janelle Sells 
 
Calendar of events: 
21 Sep 2023  Regular Meeting    9:00 – 12:30  Pinehurst 

19 Oct 2023  Regular Meeting    2:00 – 5:30  Post Falls 

16 Nov 2023  Regular Meeting     2:00 – 5:30  Post Falls 

21 Dec 2023  Regular Meeting    2:00 – 5:30  Post Falls 

 

 
Please let us know if you need auxiliary aids or services to enjoy our libraries.  This includes providing a sign language interpreter, 

assistive listening devices, or print materials in a digital format. We can also modify programs, services, or activities, within reasonable 

limits.  Please request these services through Randy Zepeda, ADA Coordinator, preferably 15 days in advance, but no later than 72 

hours before the event.   

Phone: 208-773-1506 ext. 329 

Email: ADAcoordinator@communitylibrary.net  The Community Library Network does not discriminate on the basis of disability in its 

programs, services, activities or employment practices. The Library Network has a policy on ADA compliance and the complete policy is 

available for review upon request. In addition, a grievance procedure is available to resolve complaints. If you need this notice in large 

print or Braille, let us know.  

mailto:ADAcoordinator@communitylibrary.net


 

1 
 

AMENDED  

Community Library Network  

Board of Trustees Regular Meeting Minutes 

Thursday, September 21, 2023  

Pinehurst Library  

  

9:00am – 12:30pm  

  

We Empower Discovery  

  

Agenda     

  

Call to order Meeting was called to order at 9:00 am 

  

Roll call  Trustees:  Katie Blank, Tom Hanley, Rachelle Ottosen, Tim Plass, Vanessa Robinson 

    Staff:  Alexa Eccles, Janelle Sells, Michelle Fansler 

    Guest(s):  Colton Boyles 

  

Pledge of Allegiance  

  

Public Comment (30 minutes)  
  Speakers must state name and community and speak for no more than 3 minutes. Persons 

addressing the Board are expected to observe a level of civility and decorum appropriate for a 

public meeting. No personal attacks or disruptions from audience members will be tolerated.  

• Marianna Cochran, Rathdrum – She spoke against the American Library Association and is in 

favor of CLN disassociating with ALA. 

• Jeff Lewis, Post Falls – He is in favor of disaffiliating with the American Library Association and 

moving towards the World Library Association. 

• Phyllis Johnstone, Kingston – She spoke against budget cuts.  The Pinehurst library is a needed 

community center. 

• Regina McCrea, Post Falls – She asked the Board what problem is being solved by adding the 

Materials Selection Policy to the agenda again.  She suggested reviewing the Minor Card Policy.   

  

Pinehurst Library Report – staff presentation (10 minutes)  
• Brenda Ludwick discussed the Pinehurst, Kingston, and Smelterville area.  She reviewed the statistics 

for the library.  Library use is steady throughout the year.  She reviewed the history of the beginnings 

of the Pinehurst library.  Ludwick introduced her staff.  She discussed programs that are presented at 

the library.  Youth programs have grown so large, they are held in the main part of the library.  She 

reviewed the adult programs that are presented.  She also discussed some changes to the facility.   

  

Consent agenda: action item (10 minutes)  
Minutes of the Regular meeting of August 17  

Minutes of the Special meeting of July 25  

Minutes of the Special meeting of August 5  

Minutes of the Budget Hearing of August 10  

Minutes of the Special meeting of August 18  

  CIN Financial Statements Aug 2023  

• Hanley moved to accept the consent agenda with the three noted changes. 



 

2 
 

M, C - Hanley 

 Community Library Network Aug 2023 financial statements: Action item (5 minutes)  

• Plass asked about Property Tax Income.  Plass moved to accept the August 2023 Financial Statements. 

M, C - Plass 

  

Circulation Statistics: August 2023 (5 minutes)  
• The statistics were presented in the table packet.  Eccles noted circulation and door count is above last 

year.  Hanley would like to see the statistics in a graph format and show more years to compare.  New 

door counters have been purchased for all libraries.  Plass asked about statistics on weeded collections 

and expired patrons.  He also asked how internet use is counted.   

  

Director’s report (15 minutes)  
Director’s Presentation  

  Board Calendar  

• Eccles noted the Hayden roof contract has been signed.  A report has not been returned about Harrison 

yet.  She reviewed the Board calendar for the next fiscal year.  Facility planning and policy reviews can 

be added.  Blank is in favor of adding Facility Planning to start in December.  Robinson asked if a 

consultant would be hired to assist with developing a Facilities Master Plan.  A report from the Facilities 

Manager will be presented in November.  Eccles noted that facility planning is more than repairs and 

maintenance but includes future planning for the community and growth.  The Public Records and 

Retention Policy should be reviewed.  Eccles noted some other policies that may need to be reviewed.  

Hanley would like to review the Minors Card Policy.  Policies are generally developed by the Director, 

presented to the Board for review, and sent to the attorney for legal compliance.  The Board has the 

final approval regarding policies.   

 

Ottosen moved to suspend the rules and trustees will be limited to 2 minutes per turn. 

M, C – Ottosen; Blank opposed 

  

CLN closure on Sundays no longer being considered: Action item (5 minutes)  

• Ottosen moved that if the CLN Trustees did in fact have a valid approval vote of closing on Sundays it 

is now rescinded.  CLN is not closing all the branches on Sundays.  This agenda item was added to the 

agenda on Tuesday, September 19, 2023.   

M, C - Ottosen 

  

Legal Counsel Report (15 minutes)  
  Response to recent letter(s)  

• Mr. Boyles stated that several letters were received regarding Sunday closures.  He asked the 

Board to authorize him to respond to the letters with the recent Board action regarding Sunday 

closures.  Eccles, Blank, and Robinson are requesting the memo from the attorney that was 

asked for in a previous meeting.  Consensus was reached for the attorney to respond to the 

letters without the Board receiving a memo. 

  Comments & Discussion 

• Robinson asked the attorney to provide more descriptive information on billing, including which 

staff or trustee is responsible for the billing.   

  

Break – Tour (10 minutes) Break taken from 10:27 am to 10:39 

  

Trustee continuing education: Roberts Rules (Chair Ottosen) (5 minutes)  



 

3 
 

• Ottosen reviewed updated Roberts Rules of Order.  Blank asked who provided the document 

and will ask to add this to a future meeting.  

 

Engagement of Auditor for FY2023: Action item (5 minutes)  
• The letter of engagement with Anderson Brothers, CPA was included in the Board packet.  The 

library is required to have a specialized governmental audit.  Toni Hackwith has a long-standing 

history with the District.  Hanley moved to approve engaging Anderson Brothers CPA for the 

FY’23 financial audit. 

M, C - Hanley 

  

Discussion of ICRMP Appeal letter: Action item (25 minutes)  
• Consensus reached for the Director to work with legal counsel to file an appeal with ICMRP. 

Hanley moved to direct the Director to work with legal counsel to file an appeal with ICRMP 

prior to the deadline.  Eccles suggested an executive session may be needed to review the final 

letter.  A spokesperson will need to be identified for the oral portion of the appeal.  An 

executive session will be held on September 27 at 12:30 to review the ICRMP appeal letter.  

Ottosen moved to amend the motion to bring the draft appeal letter to the Board in executive 

session on September 27, 2023, at 12:30.  Hanley withdrew his motion. Ottosen withdrew her 

amendment to the motion. 

  

Discussion of CLNs Insurance Policy Options: Action Item (25 minutes)  
• Hanley suggested getting quotes from other insurance brokers.  Plass and Ottosen would like 

multiple brokers to quote.  Eccles noted she was directed to contact Redman at 4:45 pm on 

September 20, 2023.  She stated that Redman cannot provide a full quote but can provide a 

quote for employment coverage.  Redman would be requesting quotes from the same insurance 

companies as Marsh McLennan, formerly PayneWest Insurance.  Eccles noted the limited time 

frame to receive quotes.  Robinson asked what other districts have used Redman instead of 

ICRMP for insurance.  Hanley would like the Director to get a quote from Redman.  Plass asked 

for all insurance options to be presented at the next special meeting.  The insurance companies 

will be quoting based on the previous ICRMP policy.  A consensus was reached to have Redman 

provide a full insurance quote.  Plass moved to add any additional insurance quotes from 

Redman and March McLennan, formerly PayneWest Insurance, be provided for review at the 

special meeting held on September 27, 2023, at 12:30 pm.   

M, C - Plass 

  

Discussion of Materials Selection Policy: Action item (25 minutes)  
• Hanley provided suggested changes.  Blank is concerned about removing the Intellectual 

Freedom section.  Plass stated that intellectual freedom is not in the Constitution and minors do 

not have the same First Amendment rights as adults.  Robinson is also opposed to removing the 

section.  Discussion was held regarding the Statement of Purpose and Intent for Policy.  Blank 

asked who provided the policy draft and what experience they have writing policies.  Discussion 

will continue at future meetings. 

  

Discussion to disaffiliate with ALA and its subsidiaries: Action item (15 minutes)  
• Blank is concerned this topic was not initially presented as a discussion item.  Robinson wants 

the ALA to know why the disaffiliation is occurring and the resolution does not clarify the 

reason.  She also asked about the World Library Association.  Eccles noted what she found on 

the WLA website.  She asked for clarification on affiliates and subsidiaries of ALA and where 

staff may be allowed to receive training.  Ottosen moved to approve Trustee Hanley’s resolution 



 

4 
 

as amended to disassociate from the American Library Association if there are no objections 

from the attorney.  Plass is opposed to any funds or library promotions sponsored by the ALA.  

Ottosen moved to call the previous question. 

M, C – Ottosen; Blank requested a roll call vote. 

Vote on Ottosen motion 

Blank – Nay 

Hanley – Aye 

Ottosen – Aye  

Plass – Aye 

Robinson – Abstained 

 

Ottosen moved to extend the meeting to 12:40 pm 

M, C – Ottosen 

 

Committee Report (5 minutes)  
Director Evaluation Policy 

• No meeting has been scheduled yet.  Counsel advised that committee meetings be subject to 

open meeting law. 

  

Discussion of future agenda requests (The board will decide via consensus whether these items will be moved 

to a future agenda) (5 minutes)  
• Blank requested discussion regarding Roberts Rules of Order.  She would also like the attorney 

to provide a workshop on First Amendment rights.  By consensus both items will be added to 

the next regular meeting. 

• Robinson requested discussion regarding the Boyles Law invoice format. 

    

Set Special and regular meeting dates: Action item (5 minutes)  
Eccles announced the Idaho Library Board of Commissioners and the Idaho Commission for Libraries will be in 

North Idaho.  There will be a tour of the Post Falls library on September 27, 2023, followed by a dinner.  A 

tour of the Pinehurst library will be on September 28, 2023.  A special meeting will be noticed in case two or 

more Trustees attend the events. 

  

Adjournment: Action item 

Plass moved to adjourn at 12:42 pm 

M, C - Plass 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Alexa Eccles, Janelle Sells    

  

******************************************************************************  

 

Calendar of events:  
19 Oct 2023   Regular Meeting   2:00 – 5:30   Post Falls  
16 Nov 2023   Regular Meeting   2:00 – 5:30   Post Falls  
21 Dec 2023   Regular Meeting   2:00 – 5:30   Post Falls 

 

Please let us know if you need auxiliary aids or services to enjoy our libraries.  This includes providing a sign 

language interpreter, assistive listening devices, or print materials in a digital format. We can also modify 



 

5 
 

programs, services, or activities, within reasonable limits.  Please request these services through Randy 

Zepeda, ADA Coordinator, preferably 15 days in advance, but no later than 72 hours before the event.    

Phone: 208-773-1506 ext. 329  

Email: ADAcoordinator@communitylibrary.net  

The Community Library Network does not discriminate on the basis of disability in its programs, services, 

activities or employment practices. The Library Network has a policy on ADA compliance and the complete 

policy is available for review upon request. In addition, a grievance procedure is available to resolve 

complaints. If you need this notice in large print or Braille, let us know.  

  



 

 

AMENDED  

Community Library Network  

SPECIAL Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes 

WEDNESDAY, September 27, 2023  

POST FALLS LIBRARY  

  

12:30PM – 1:30PM   

  

We Empower Discovery  

Agenda     

  

Call to Order Meeting was called to order at 12:30 pm 

  

Roll Call Trustees:  Katie Blank, Tom Hanley, Rachelle Ottosen, Tim Plass (arrived at 12:32 pm) 

Vanessa Robinson (left the meeting at 1:34 pm) 

    Staff:  Alexa Eccles, Lindsey Miller-Escarfuller, Janelle Sells 

    Guest(s):  Colton Boyles 

  

Discussion and possible engagement of a new liability insurance provider: Action item (15 minutes)  

• Eccles stated she has not received any quotes from either broker.  Marsh McLennen is estimating 

receiving a quote with the same coverage at approximately the same premium on Thursday, 

September 28, 2023.  Boyles received notification from Redman that Travelers Insurance declined 

quoting.  Eccles noted an emergency meeting may need to be called if an insurance policy cannot be 

approved prior to 11:59 pm on September 30, 2023.  Hanley suggested choosing from whatever 

quotes are presented at a meeting on Friday, September 29, 2023.  Boyles noted most carriers are 

on the East Coast and close of business would be 2:00 pm.  Plass moved to schedule a special 

meeting on Friday, September 29, 2023, at 1:00 pm to review insurance quotes and make a decision.  

Blank stated she would not be available.  Eccles is not available in person either.  She recommends a 

special meeting on Thursday, September 28, 2023, at or after 5:00 pm.  Boyles noted the code 

regarding Director attendance at meetings.  Closing the libraries for lack of coverage would have a 

significant impact on the public and staff.  Eccles recommends moving forward with ICRMP to prevent 

closing the libraries.  Boyles noted Eccles could attend a special meeting remotely.  Hanley prefers to 

close libraries, letting the policy lapse, if ICRMP is the only policy option.  Boyles is not in favor of a 

lapse in coverage.  Plass withdrew his motion.  Plass moved to schedule two special meetings, 

Thursday, September 28, 2023, at 5:00 pm and Friday, September 29, 2023, at 1:00 pm to review all 

insurance quotes and make a decision.  Robinson is not available on the 28th.  Blank is not available 

on the 28th or the 29th.  Eccles will be available via telecommunications on the 29th. 

M, C - Plass 

  

Executive Session (Idaho Code74-206(1)(f): To communicate with legal counsel for the public agency to 

discuss the legal ramifications of and legal options for pending litigation, or controversies not yet being 

litigated but imminently likely to be litigated. (30 Minutes) 

Blank asked what the general reason is for going into executive session.  Robinson cannot stay past 1:30 

today.  Plass does not see a need for executive session today.  Boyles noted the executive session is 

for him to counsel the Board regarding the letters received from outside agencies.  No executive was called. 

Hanley moved to extend the meeting by 10 minutes until 1:42 pm. 

M, C – Hanley; Robinson opposed. 



 

 

 

Eccles does not think an executive session for the ICRMP appeal needs to be in executive session. 

Ottosen asked for consensus for agenda items not addressed at this meeting except Trustee Continuing 

Education, to be added to the upcoming two special meetings.  Consensus was reached.  Blank is opposed. 

  

Discussion of Community Library Network’s increasing risks as it relates to insurance policy renewal(s): 

Action item (2.5 minutes) 
 

Review legal counsel recommendations, authorize insurance and release of resolution:  Action item (5 
minutes)  

• Boyles noted he has not had an adequate amount of time to address concerns about the resolution.  

He does not recommend adding this to the next two meetings. 

  

Approval of appeal letter to be sent to ICRMP Insurance: Action Item (5 minutes)  

  

Discussion and possible engagement of a new liability insurance provide: Action Item (20 minutes)    
Discussion of the 9.21.2023 Trustee Continuing Education presentation (5 minutes) – will be on the next 

regular meeting agenda. 

  

Set Special and Regular Meeting Date(s): Action Item(s) (2.5 minutes)  

  

Adjournment: Action Item  

Plass moved to adjourn at 1:49 pm 

M, C – Plass 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Alexa Eccles, Janelle Sells  

  

Calendar of events:  

  

27 Sep 2023    Possible Quorum        5:00 - 7:00    Post Falls  
19 Oct 2023    Regular Meeting        2:00 – 5:30    Post Falls  

16 Nov 2023    Regular Meeting         2:00 – 5:30    Post Falls  

21 Dec 2023    Regular Meeting        2:00 – 5:30    Post Falls  
  
Please let us know if you need auxiliary aids or services to enjoy our libraries.  This includes providing a sign language interpreter, 

assistive listening devices, or print materials in a digital format. We can also modify programs, services, or activities, within 

reasonable limits.  Please request these services through Randy Zepeda, ADA Coordinator, preferably 15 days in advance, but no 

later than 72 hours before the event.    
Phone: 208-773-1506 ext. 329  
Email: ADAcoordinator@communitylibrary.net 

The Community Library Network does not discriminate on the basis of disability in its programs, services, activities or employment 

practices. The Library Network has a policy on ADA compliance and the complete policy is available for review upon request. In 

addition, a grievance procedure is available to resolve complaints. If you need this notice in large print or Braille, let us know.   

  

   Amended: 09.26.2023 @ 12:25pm | Posted: 09.25.2023  

mailto:ADAcoordinator@communitylibrary.net


 

 

Community Library Network  

SPECIAL Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes 

THURSDAY, September 28, 2023  

POST FALLS LIBRARY  

  

5:00-7:00PM  

  

We Empower Discovery  

Agenda     

  

Call to Order Meeting was called to order at 5:02 pm 

  

Roll Call Trustees:  Tom Hanley, Rachelle Ottosen, Tim Plass (arrived at 5:05 pm) 

    Treasurer:  Julie Saad (left the meeting at 6:38 pm) 

    Staff:  Alexa Eccles, Lindsey Miller-Escarfuller, Janelle Sells 

    Guest(s):  Colton Boyles 

  

Discussion and possible engagement of a liability insurance provider: Action item (55 minutes)  

• Eccles summarized communication from Redman Insurance and Marsh McLennan, formerly 

PayneWest Insurance.  A policy proposal for a supplement-type policy from Great American 

Insurance Group was received.  This would complement the ICRMP policy.  Boyles commented on 

communication from Mr. Winkler with Redmen.  He recommended authorizing the Director to act 

unilaterally to bind a policy prior to October 1, 2023.  Eccles has started reviewing the application 

process for Great American Insurance Group.  Quotes for a comprehensive cover plan have not been 

received yet.  Plass is not in favor of moving forward with a supplement plan and wants to wait until 

Friday, September 29, 2023.  Boyles noted Idaho statute for the Board obligations for insuring the 

District and noted the Financial Management Policy giving the Director authorization to contract 

services.  He also stated the Director has a fiduciary responsibility to the entity.  Plass and Hanley 

want another comprehensive plan to review before binding a policy.  Ottosen wants to authorize the 

Director to bind a policy(s) in the best interest of the District.  Plass moved to authorize the Director 

to complete the Great American Insurance Group and the ICRMP applications to be available should 

the Board move forward with the respective policies at the Friday, September 29, 2023, 1:00 pm 

meeting. 

M, C - Plass 

  

Executive Session (Idaho Code74-206(1)(f): To communicate with legal counsel for the public agency to 

discuss the legal ramifications of and legal options for pending litigation, or controversies not yet being 

litigated but imminently likely to be litigated. (40 Minutes) Discuss 3 recent letters 

Hanley moved to go into executive session per Idaho Code 74-206(1)(f) at 6:34 pm 

Boyles noted statute is not clear regarding the two thirds requirement to enter into executive session and he 

is prepared to discuss this in an open meeting.  Hanley withdrew his motion. 

• Boyles reviewed his response to three letters from outside entities regarding Sunday library closures.  

A consensus was reached to authorize Boyles to respond with his suggested letter. 

 

Review of legal counsel recommendations (5 minutes) – no further discussion 

  



 

 

Authorize insurance: Action item (5 minutes) – no further discussion 

Release of ALA Resolution: Action item (5 minutes)  

• Eccles recommends further discussion on this topic to be held at the next regular meeting.  Boyles 

would like to resolve some issues brought forward by others. 

  

Approval of appeal letter to be sent to ICRMP Insurance: Action Item (5 minutes)  

• Eccles believes it is in the best interest of the District to appeal some of the liability insurance 

reductions from ICRMP.  She provided a revised appeal letter and reviewed the items to appeal.  

Restoration of some of these areas may be retroactive to the start of the policy.  Ottosen has 

concerns about some statements in the letter and stated forced education is repugnant.  Hanley has 

concerns that the appeal requires more conditions than he is willing to accept.  Plass is not in favor of 

the appeal and does not want the Director to spend time on it.  Boyles noted the deadline for the 

appeal may be tied to policy renewal. 

  

Set Special and Regular Meeting Date(s): Action Item(s) (5 minutes)  

  

Adjournment: Action Item  

Plass moved to adjourn at 7:00 pm 

M, C - Plass 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Alexa Eccles, Janelle Sells  

  

Calendar of events:  

  

29 Sep 2023    Special Meeting        1:00 – 3:00    Post Falls  
19 Oct 2023    Regular Meeting        2:00 – 5:30    Post Falls  

16 Nov 2023    Regular Meeting         2:00 – 5:30    Post Falls  

21 Dec 2023    Regular Meeting        2:00 – 5:30    Post Falls  
  
Please let us know if you need auxiliary aids or services to enjoy our libraries.  This includes providing a sign language interpreter, 

assistive listening devices, or print materials in a digital format. We can also modify programs, services, or activities, within 

reasonable limits.  Please request these services through Randy Zepeda, ADA Coordinator, preferably 15 days in advance, but no 

later than 72 hours before the event.    
Phone: 208-773-1506 ext. 329  
Email: ADAcoordinator@communitylibrary.net 

The Community Library Network does not discriminate on the basis of disability in its programs, services, activities or employment 

practices. The Library Network has a policy on ADA compliance and the complete policy is available for review upon request. In 

addition, a grievance procedure is available to resolve complaints. If you need this notice in large print or Braille, let us know.   

mailto:ADAcoordinator@communitylibrary.net


 

 

Community Library Network  

SPECIAL Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes 

FRIDAY, September 29, 2023  

POST FALLS LIBRARY & Teams 

  

1:00-3:00PM  

  

We Empower Discovery  

Agenda     

  

Call to Order Meeting was called to order at 1:00 pm 

  

Roll Call Trustees:  Tom Hanley, Rachelle Ottosen, Tim Plass, Vanessa Robinson 

    Staff:  Alexa Eccles, Lindsey Miller-Escarfuller, Janelle Sells 

    Guest(s):  Colton Boyles 

  

Discussion and possible engagement of a liability insurance provider: Action item (55 minutes)  

• Eccles noted that Redman Insurance and Marsh McLennan would not have any quotes on Friday, 

September 29, 2023.  The current available option is renewing with ICRMP and selecting the 

supplement-type insurance policy from Great American Insurance Group.  Plass moved to direct the 

library director to process the applications and paperwork for ICRMP and Great American Insurance 

Group she was asked to complete at the September 28, 2023, meeting and engage those two 

policies.  The Board authorizes the Director contracting authority over $50,000 for insurance. 

M, C - Plass 

  

Executive Session (Idaho Code74-206(1)(f): To communicate with legal counsel for the public agency to 

discuss the legal ramifications of and legal options for pending litigation, or controversies not yet being 

litigated but imminently likely to be litigated. (40 Minutes) Discuss 3 recent letters – No Discussion 

 

Review of legal counsel recommendations (5 minutes) – No Discussion 

  

Authorize insurance: Action item (5 minutes) – No Discussion 

  

Release of ALA Resolution: Action item (5 minutes) – No Discussion 

  

Approval of appeal letter to be sent to ICRMP Insurance: Action Item (5 minutes) 

• Hanley requested clarification regarding the objective of the appeal.  Eccles reviewed the letter from 

ICRMP about the reduction in coverage.  The appeal draft letter requests retro-active coverage 

restoration.  She believes it is in the best financial interest of the District to appeal.  Plass is not in 

favor of the draft appeal at this time.  Robinson is in favor of appealing to ICRMP for restoration of 

coverage.  Eccles noted the Board’s instruction to begin the appeal process at a prior meeting.  She 

reviewed the appeal letter showing a good faith action to ICRMP to improve.  Ottosen disagrees with 

some of the items in the letter and with forced education.  The basis for the letter notes areas of 

concern from a risk management standpoint and the requirements of the Joint Powers Agreement 

with ICRMP.  Boyles noted there are some notifications requirements that may limit coverage.  

Robinson asked what would cause an insurance company to remove employee liability coverage.  



 

 

Boyles and Eccles referred to the Joint Powers Agreement for specific reasons that coverage may 

have been lost.  Hanley is not in favor of the appeal letter at this time either.  A consensus was 

reached for the insurance brokers to continue a comprehensive insurance quote.  Boyles advised the 

Board to commit to a policy.  Plass moved to end the discussion and continue the discussion in a 

special meeting at a later time.  Eccles noted the substantial increase in the number of Board 

meetings in the last several months.  Boyles offered optional language for the appeal letter to get the 

appeal process started.  He noted it would be better to start the process sooner.  Ottosen would like 

a letter drafted with counsel’s recommendations. 

M, Failed – Plass; Hanley and Robinson opposed. 

Ottosen moved for an appeal letter to be drafted with counsel’s recommendations.  The Board 

reviewed edits to the appeal letter.  Eccles recommends authorizing the Chair to submit on behalf of 

the Board.  Ottosen withdrew her motion.  Ottosen moved to submit the appeal letter as amended. 

M, C - Ottosen   

  

Set Special and Regular Meeting Date(s): Action Item(s) (5 minutes) – No Discussion  

  

Adjournment: Action Item  

Hanley moved to adjourn at 2:22 pm 

M, C - Hanley 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Alexa Eccles, Janelle Sells  

  

Calendar of events:  

  

29 Sep 2023    Special Meeting        1:00 – 3:00    Post Falls  
19 Oct 2023    Regular Meeting        2:00 – 5:30    Post Falls  

16 Nov 2023    Regular Meeting         2:00 – 5:30    Post Falls  

21 Dec 2023    Regular Meeting        2:00 – 5:30    Post Falls  
  
Please let us know if you need auxiliary aids or services to enjoy our libraries.  This includes providing a sign language interpreter, 

assistive listening devices, or print materials in a digital format. We can also modify programs, services, or activities, within 

reasonable limits.  Please request these services through Randy Zepeda, ADA Coordinator, preferably 15 days in advance, but no 

later than 72 hours before the event.    
Phone: 208-773-1506 ext. 329  
Email: ADAcoordinator@communitylibrary.net 

The Community Library Network does not discriminate on the basis of disability in its programs, services, activities or employment 

practices. The Library Network has a policy on ADA compliance and the complete policy is available for review upon request. In 

addition, a grievance procedure is available to resolve complaints. If you need this notice in large print or Braille, let us know.   

  

     Posted: 09.27.2023 @ 4:30pm  

mailto:ADAcoordinator@communitylibrary.net






 

 

CIN Income Statement/Balance Sheet Analysis 
September 2023 – 100.00% of Time Elapsed 

 

 
REVENUE 

 
Income – Benewah County – Benewah County District Library has paid their portion of dues and courier 
costs for the year. 
 
Income – Clarkia – Clarkia District Library has paid their portion of dues for the year. 
 
Income – Coeur d’Alene – Coeur d’Alene Public Library has paid their portion of dues and courier costs 
for the year. 
 
Income – Community Library Network – The District has paid their portion of dues and courier costs for 
the year. 
 
Income – Kellogg – Kellogg Public Library has paid their portion of dues for the year. 
 
Income – Liberty Lake – Liberty Lake Municipal Library has paid their portion of dues and courier costs 
for the year. 
 
Income – Mullan Public – Mullan Public Library has paid their portion of dues for the year. 
 
Income – Osburn – Osburn Public Library has paid their portion of dues for the year. 
 
Income – Pend Oreille – Pend Oreille County Library District has paid their portion of dues and courier 
costs for the year. 
 
Income – Plummer – Plummer Public Library has paid their portion of dues for the year.  
 
Income – Priest Lake – Priest Lake Public Library has paid their portion of dues for the year. 
 
Income – Silver Hills – Silver Hills Elementary School has paid their portion of dues for the year. 
 
Income – St Maries – St Maries Public Library has paid their portion of dues and courier costs for the 
year. 
 
Income – Wallace High – Wallace High School has paid their portion of dues for the year. 
 
Income – Wallace Public – Wallace Public Library has paid their portion of dues for the year. 
 
Income – West Bonner – West Bonner Library District has paid their portion of dues and courier costs for 
the year. 
 
Income – E-books Membership – This line is complete for the year. 
 
Income – E-books Contributions – Contributions this month are from the Community Library Network. 
 
Income – Donation for E-books – No donations this month. 
 
Income – Freegal – CIN voted not to renew Freegal.  There will be no income this year. 
 
Income – Interest – Interest rates are increasing, and this line is above budget. 

 
 



 

 

EXPENSES 
 

E-books & Materials – Purchases this month are the result of the contributions from the Community 
Library Network. 
 
E-book Membership – This line is complete for the year. 
 
Freegal Music – CIN voted not to renew Freegal.  This line will not be expended this year. 
 
Language Learning Database – CIN voted to not renew Mango.  This line will not be expended this year. 
 
ByWater / Koha Maintenance – Expenses this month are for Twilio. 
 
EBSCO Open Athens/Novelist – There is no expense this month. 
 
Envisionware / Maint. – Envisionware ceased supporting the PC Reservation system.  The increased 
cost reflects migrating to the new platform.  Affected libraries were billed additional Dues to cover the cost.  
This line is complete for the year. 
 
Marcive Maintenance – Due to an unexpected rate increase, this line ends the year above budget.  
 
OPAC Maint – Syndetics – This line is complete for the year. 
 
Accounting Svcs – Community Library Network has billed CIN for FY’23 Accounting Services. 
 
Audit – This line is complete for the year. 
 
Supplies – The negative amount represents member libraries reimbursing CIN for supplies received. 
 
Local Courier – This is the monthly amount paid to the CIN courier. 
 
ORBIS Courier – This is paid out in quarterly installments at the end of each quarter. 
 

 
BALANCE SHEET 

 
Current Assets/Accounts rec – The checking account reflects the current balance at month-end. 
 
Money Market Acct – These are funds currently in the money market account. 
 
Prepaid Expenses – These are funds placed with Overdrive as part of our CIN contract to acquire 
eBooks and pay for their service. Audit adjustments for FY 23 have not been completed yet. 
 
Current Liabilities – The amount for Accounts Payable reflects invoices received for FY’23 but not paid 
prior to fiscal year end. 
 
Long-Term Liabilities – This line is adjusted at the end of our audit. There were no Long-Term Liabilities 
for FY 22. Audit adjustments for FY 23 have not been completed yet. 
 
Capital – Auditor adjustments are made annually to all Capital Assets and Income. 
 
Janelle Sells 
Business Manager 
CLN & CIN  











 

1 
 

Community Library Network Financial Statement Analysis 

September 2023 – 100.00% of Time Elapsed 

 

Note:  Budget amendments approved at the January 19, 2023, meeting are reflected in the financial 

statements. 

 

Revenue 

 
Income – Taxes – Property tax income finished below budget for the year. 

 

Income – Bond Levy – The law requires that all property tax money go to the Bond until this income line has 

reached 100%.  We have received enough property tax income to satisfy our bond levy.   

 

Income – Sales Tax & Ag Equip – Sales Tax Income is received quarterly.  Income this month is from the 

delayed payment from Shoshone County.  This line is complete for the year and has exceeded expectations. 

Income – Coop Electric Agreement – This annual payment has been received.  This line is complete for the 

year and is below budget expectations. 

 

Income – Personal Property Replacement – The second semi-annual payment has arrived.  This line ends 

the year above budget. 

 

Income – Property Tax Relief – The second semi-annual payment has arrived.  This line ends the year below 

budget. 

 

Income – URD Close – Income this month is the rebate from two Post Falls Urban Renewal Districts closing. 

 

Income – Copiers/Printers – Copier/Printer income ends the year above budget.  

 

Income – Donations – Minimal donation income was received in September.  This line ends the year above 

budget. 

 

Income – Fees – Fee income ends the year just below budget. 

 

Income – Lost & Paid – Lost and paid income ends the year above budget. 

 

Income – Grants – No income this month.  

 

Income – CLN Friends Grants – Grant income this month will support Trunk-or-Treat activities to be held at 

Athol, Hayden, and Rathdrum. 

 

Income – Post Falls Friends Grants – No income this month. 

 

Income – Interest – Interest income ends the year well above budget due to Mountain West Bank re-

evaluating our banking relationship and increasing the interest rate for our ICS account. 

 

  



 

2 
 

Expenditures 

Salary Components – The Salary Components, in total for the year, are at 98.27% of their budgeted amount.   

 

Adult Programs – Adult programming ends the year just below budget. This line varies quite a bit as 

programs are planned and presented.  Expenses this month include purchasing supplies for Fall programs. 

Children’s Programs – Children's programming expense ends the year just above budget.  Expenses this 

month include some final bills related to Summer Reading and purchasing supplies for Fall programs. 

 

Collections – Collection expenditures for the year finish just below budget. 

 

Collections – Library of Things – Purchases for Library of Things end the year just under budget. 

 

Communications/Marketing – Expenses this month include purchasing collateral materials for marketing.  

This line ends the year just under budget. 

 

Emerging Tech. Programs – Expenses this month purchased supplies for Emerging Tech programs.  This 

line has ended the year below budget. 

 

OCLC/Databases – This line ends the year above budget.  Savings from CIN Dues allowed the District to 

renew Mango Languages for our members when CIN chose not to renew. 

 

Software – The expense this month includes the monthly hosting services for Office 365, the renewal for 

LibraryAware, and purchasing additional software to add new People Counters at the other six locations. 

 

Internet Access – Fatbeam is our vendor that brings the internet into our central hub at Post Falls.  E-rate was 

finally approved in late August.  Fatbeam will now bill at the discounted rate.  The negative amount reflects 

reimbursement from Fatbeam for the July and August discounts.  This line ends the year below budget as we 

do not budget for potential State reimbursements. 

 

Telecom – Fatbeam connects all our facilities to the central hub for internet access.  T-Mobile is our hot spot 

provider.  Verizon provides wireless access for the bookmobile and several devices used by facilities staff.     

E-rate was finally approved in late August.  Fatbeam will now bill at the discounted rate.  The negative amount 

reflects reimbursement from Fatbeam for the July and August discounts.  This line ends the year below budget 

as we do not budget for potential State reimbursements. 

 

Tech Proc/Office – Tech processing and supplies end the year above budget.  Significant increases in toner 

costs are the main reason this line has exceeded the budget.   

 

Grants – Expenses this month supported summer STEM activities, supplies for Teen Wellness and Hygiene 

Hamper programs, and Launch into Learning. 

 

Grants – CLN Friends – Expenses this month supported summer reading programs for adults and youth 

services, and the homeschool mini-conference. 

 

Grants – Post Falls Friends – Expenses this month supported summer reading programs for youth services 

and the homeschool mini-conference. 

 



 

3 
 

Janitorial – Janitorial expenses this month include regular monthly cleaning and Fall carpet cleaning at all 

locations. 

 

Library Equip (under $2500) – Expenses this month include purchasing new People Counters at the 

remaining six locations, replacement of meeting room chairs at Pinehurst and Post Falls, new electric/charging 

lounge chairs for public use, new computers to replace aging ones, new lighter weight meeting room tables, 

and replacement of window blinds at Post Falls with child-safe blinds.  The line ends the year just below 

budget. 

 

Mileage & Vehicle Maint. – Expenses this month include fuel for District vehicles and quarterly mileage 

reimbursement for some staff.  Despite rising fuel costs, this line has ended the year below budget. 

 

Outreach Vehicles – Expenses this month include fuel for Outreach vehicles and several repairs for the 

Bookmobile.  The negative amount reflects the return of payment for estimated repairs for the Discovery Bus 

after it was determined more work needed to be done.  This repair project will be completed at a later date.  

This line has ended the year below budget. 

 

Repairs & Maint. (as a group) – As a group, repairs and maintenance are ending the year at 80.52%.  

Expenses this month include landscaping at all locations, HVAC quarterly maintenance and any necessary 

repairs at Athol, Hayden, Post Falls, and Rathdrum, tree removal at Athol, sealing cracks in the Hayden 

parking lot, replacing the phase converter at Hayden, removal of the concrete tower pad in the lawn at 

Pinehurst, installing recessed lighting and replacing exterior lights at Post Falls, and running electric lines for 

the installation of new People Counters at the remaining six locations.  While Hayden and Pinehurst exceeded 

budget, as a group, repairs and maintenance ended the year below budget. 

 

Snow Removal – Snow removal expenses have been more than anticipated this year.   

 

Telephones – Telephone expenses end the year just below budget. 

 

Utilities (as a group) – As a group, utilities are ending the year at 95.85%.  This month includes regular 

expenses for electricity, gas, water, sewer, and garbage. 

 

Audit – This line is complete for the year. 

 

Bank Svc Chg. – Bank service charge expense ends the year above budget due to an unexpected number of 

stop payment fees. 

 

Bond Principal Payment – Our bond principal has now been paid. 

 

Bond Interest – The last bond interest payment has now been paid. 

 

CIN – We pay our dues to CIN quarterly.  This line is now complete for the year.  A portion of Dues was 

refunded when CIN chose not to renew Mango Languages. 

 

Courier – We pay our courier payments to CIN quarterly.  This line is now complete for the year. 

 

Cont. Education (Tuition) – No expense this month. 

 

Copiers – Copier expenses are paid quarterly and are above budget for the year. 

 



 

4 
 

Dues – No expense this month. 

 

Insurance – The second half has been paid.  Liability insurance premiums were reduced when ICRMP 

discontinued their agreement with Payne West to represent the district.  This line is complete for the year.  

 

Legal & Professional – This line is above budget for the year.  Expenses this month include fees for the 

electronic time-keeping payroll system, collection services for past due patron accounts, legal consulting, 

architect fees for the Harrison water issue, and COBRA administration for some departing staff members. 

 

Petty Cash Expense – Petty cash expense is above budget for the year. 

 

Postage – Postage is above budget for the year due to multiple postage rate increases. 

 

Sales Tax Expense – This is paid quarterly based on the amount of income we receive from copier and printer 

use.  This line is above budget for the year – just as the income line is that it is derived from. 

 

Storage Rental – Storage rental is above budget for the year due to changing facilities mid-year. 

 

Training/Conf. Travel – Expenses this month include travel and accommodation for a staff member to attend 

the Association for Rural and Small Libraries conference, registration for several staff members to attend the 

Idaho Library Association conference, and online training assigned to all managers.   

 

BALANCE SHEET 

 

Current Assets – Includes month end checking account balances as well as Property Tax Receivable.  

Property Tax Receivable is examined and adjusted annually by the auditor.  Adjustments for FY’23 have not 

been completed yet. 

 

Property and Equipment 

All capital property and equipment balances reflect the current value of the assets.  These are 

examined and adjusted annually by the auditor.  Adjustments for FY’23 have not been completed yet. 

Land – No change this month 

Land improvements – No change this month 

Buildings – No change this month 

Vehicles – No change this month 

Equipment & Furniture – No change this month  

Collections – No change this month 

 

Other Assets 

Mtn West MMK – Henderson Fund – This account is a fund dedicated to Youth Services purchases in 

the District. 

ICS – This stands for “Insured Cash Sweep” and is the account where we receive the most stable 

interest on funds we anticipate holding for longer periods of time.  The ICS holds the majority of our 

cash on hand and keeps our funds within the guidelines of FDIC insurance. 

CARRF – Our Capital Asset Repair and Replacement available funds appear here. The budgeted 

FY’23 transfer was made in September.  This account is currently over the FDIC insurance limits and 

staff will be looking for more secure options while maintaining liquidity for upcoming capital projects. 

CARRF-CDARS – CARRF funds in excess of FDIC insurance limits are held in this group of short-term 

CD’s. 



 

5 
 

Mtn West MMK – Pinehurst Bequest – This account is a fund dedicated to the Pinehurst library. 

Amount to provide for long-term debt – These assets would be used in the event we needed to pay 

someone their accrued vacation time if they left the District.  (See “Accrued Annual Leave” below.) 

Current Liabilities 

All current liabilities are examined and adjusted annually by the auditor.  Adjustments for FY’23 have 

not been completed yet. 

Accts Payable – Bills that would normally be paid in September arrived late, delaying payment until 

October. 

Accrued Payroll Liabilities – a portion of the October payroll included some days in September. 

Accrued Annual Leave – This is close to the same amount ($0.16 difference is due to rounding during 

the audit process) listed as an asset above and represents our current liability to pay those with 

accrued vacation time. 

Bond Interest Payable – This amount is established annually at the close of the fiscal year through 

audit adjustments. 

 

Long-Term Liabilities 

Bonds Payable – This is the amount currently owed on our bond. 

Premium on Bonds Payable – This amount is established annually at the close of the fiscal year 

through audit adjustments. 

Deferred Property Tax Revenue – This is the portion not paid within 60 days of the end of our fiscal 

year.  The amount is established annually at the close of the fiscal year through audit adjustments. 

 

Net Assets 

Net Invest in Fixed Assets – This is the value of all the District’s fixed assets minus our bond debt.  

The amount is established annually at the close of the fiscal year through audit adjustments. 

Net Assets – Unrestricted – These are liquid assets.  The amount is established annually at the close 

of the fiscal year through audit adjustments. 

Restricted Net Assets – This reflects end-of-year entries through audit adjustments and includes 

assets for the following restricted funds:  Smithsonian and all other unexpended grant monies and 

dedicated donations. 

 

Janelle Sells 

Business Manager 



COMMUNITY LIBRARY NETWORK
9/30/2023

AT BK HR HL PF PK RA SL Total

TOTAL CIRCULATION 5,576         2,699         2,547         36,820       35,951       7,604         11,625       5,746         108,568     
             CIRC LAST YEAR 5,506         2,394         2,519         32,329       33,092       7,356         9,608         5,856         98,660       
             YEAR TO DATE CIRC 65,876       30,700       29,232       426,539     419,713     91,003       130,680     65,351       1,259,094  
             YEAR TO DATE CIRC LAST YEAR 64,163       28,916       28,686       389,428     387,849     80,881       119,320     65,697       1,164,939  

PHYSICAL ITEMS CIRCULATION 3,798         2,594         1,107         24,845       21,683       2,817         6,960         3,268         67,072       
             CIRC LAST YEAR 3,838         2,339         1,176         22,235       21,367       2,504         6,400         3,061         62,920       
             YEAR TO DATE CIRC 45,637       29,617       13,730       287,459     266,642     32,172       81,985       36,037       793,279     
             YEAR TO DATE CIRC LAST YEAR 44,101       27,848       14,385       274,202     257,923     28,120       77,327       33,373       757,279     

OVERDRIVE EBOOK DOWNLOADS 304            84             48             2,393         2,038         186            920            101            6,074         
             EBOOK CIRC LAST YEAR 288            42             46             2,023         1,806         220            598            54             5,077         
OVERDRIVE EAUDIO DOWNLOADS 460            21             70             2,574         2,579         236            1,035         209            7,184         
             EAUDIO CIRC LAST YEAR 345            13             37             2,164         2,201         156            788            129            5,833         

             TOTAL MONTHLY CIRC 764            105            118            4,967         4,617         422            1,955         310            13,258       
             TOTAL MONTHLY CIRC LAST YEAR 633            55             83             4,187         4,007         376            1,386         183            10,910       
             YEAR TO DATE TOTAL CIRC 8,344         949            1,080         58,184       52,911       4,756         19,890       3,680         149,794     
             YEAR TO DATE TOTAL CIRC LAST YEAR 6,540         858            916            47,166       43,541       4,518         15,208       2,759         121,506     

FREEGAL USAGE 28             -            -            1,804         2,109         2,004         1,042         2               6,989         
             CIRC LAST YEAR 66             -            -            1,164         1,319         1,920         297            494            5,260         
             YEAR TO DATE CIRC 427            134            -            19,802       18,892       28,259       9,202         3,143         79,859       
             YEAR TO DATE CIRC LAST YEAR 1,137         210            435            16,842       15,408       20,909       6,156         4,427         65,523       

INTERNET & COMPUTER USE 986            N/A 1,322         5,204         7,542         2,361         1,668         2,166         21,249       
            USE LAST YEAR 969            N/A 1,260         4,743         6,399         2,556         1,525         2,118         19,570       
            YEAR TO DATE CIRC 11,468       N/A 14,422       61,094       83,622       25,816       19,873       22,491       238,786     
            YEAR TO DATE CIRC LAST YEAR 12,385       N/A 12,950       51,217       70,978       27,334       20,629       25,138       220,631     

MATERIALS ADDED 66             61             40             601            592            97             151            62             1,670         
            YEAR TO DATE 1,384         1,036         1,017         9,296         8,698         1,488         2,168         1,268         26,355       
            YEAR TO DATE LAST YEAR 1,752         1,020         1,394         10,610       9,923         1,541         2,300         1,651         30,191       

NEW PATRONS 

            NEW PATRONS 32             45             7               199            196            111            76             28             694            
            NEW PATRONS LAST YEAR 38             55             6               186            224            129            68             31             737            
            YEAR TO DATE 333            230            68             2,057         2,044         250            716            265            5,963         
            YEAR TO DATE LAST YEAR 336            249            67             1,847         2,146         288            730            260            5,923         

NEW PATRONS BY AGE AND TYPE
           NEW PATRONS (TOTAL) 32             45             7               199            196            111            76             28             694            
                 ADULTS (18+) 29             13             6               146            138            9               44             16             401            
                 CHILDRENS OPEN ACCESS 68% 2               16             1               41             43             69             17             10             199            
                 CHILDRENS LIMITED ACCESS 32% 1               16             -            12             15             33             15             2               94             

PEOPLE COUNTER 1,759         1,138         412            10,752       14,194       2,072         4,459         2,252         37,038       
           COUNTER LAST YEAR 1,785         1,027         426            10,170       14,032       1,935         4,115         2,316         35,806       
            YEAR TO DATE 22,235       12,426       5,949         129,578     176,442     24,172       50,693       25,206       446,701     
           YEAR TO DATE LAST YEAR 19,279       11,260       5,388         115,620     162,161     21,034       46,268       27,589       408,599     

MEETING ROOMS

# OF TIMES MEETING ROOM USED [LIBRARY] -               N/A N/A 6                  46                7                  14                15                88                

MEETING ROOM ATTENDANCE -               N/A N/A 29                1,309           10                83                197              1,628           

# OF TIMES MEETING ROOM USED [NON-LIBRARY] -               N/A N/A 11                14                1                  1                  1                  28                

MEETING ROOM ATTENDANCE -               N/A N/A 141              230              8                  4                  383              


























































	Board-Packet-Cover-Page_10192023
	1-09 08 2023 special meeting minutes final
	2-09 15 2023 special meeting minutes draft
	3-09 21 2023 regular meeting minutes draft
	4-09 27 2023 special meeting minutes draft
	5-09 28 2023 special meeting minutes draft
	6-09 29 2023 special meeting minutes draft
	7-CIN Unaudited 9-2023 Financial Statements
	7b-CIN Income Statement Analysis - 9-2023
	8-CLN Unaudited 9-2023 Financial Statements
	8b-CLN Income Statement Analysis - 9-2023
	9-2023 September Monthly Stats
	10-CLN-ResolutionWithALA_09152023
	11-ICRMP update 10.12.23
	12-Roberts Rules Trustee handout 10.23
	13-Idaho Statutes for Material Selection 10.12.23
	14-Director Evalution policy and contract 10.23



